Measure A Baselines Demographics Report

Data Subcommittee of the Executive Steering Committee for Data and IT Governance March 3, 2025

Background

This memo provides baseline estimates of the administrative data metrics for Measure A Goals 1–4, broken out by race and ethnicity, gender, age, and veteran status, for FY 2019–20 through FY 2023–24. The purpose of these demographic breakdowns is to inform the work of the Equity Subcommittee of the Leadership Table on Regional Homeless Alignment (LTRHA), which will define equity in the context of Measure A and recommend equity goals to the Executive Committee on Regional Homeless Alignment (ECRHA). The Data Subcommittee worked with the Equity Subcommittee to design the demographic breakdowns of these metrics.

About the Data Subcommittee. The Data Subcommittee was formed to provide data and analytical expertise to the Measure A goal-setting process. The Subcommittee is composed of homelessness and data experts from the County's Chief Information Office (CIO), Department of Health Services (DHS), the Los Angeles Homelessness Services Authority (LAHSA), the California Policy Lab at UCLA, and the Homelessness Policy Research Institute (HPRI) at USC. The co-chairs of the Data Subcommittee are Peter Loo, Los Angeles County's Chief Information Officer, and Janey Rountree, Executive Director of the California Policy Lab at UCLA.

Methodology

The data about service participants' demographics comes from administrative data sources, including the Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) and the Comprehensive Health Accompaniment and Management Platform (CHAMP). More information about these data sources can be found in the Data Subcommittee's baselines report. Some of the numbers in this memo differ slightly from the numbers in the original baselines report because of changes to how we identify unique people in the combined HMIS and CHAMP data.

Race/ethnicity. Information about service participants' race and ethnicity is self-reported in HMIS or CHAMP. We count people who identify with multiple racial/ethnic groups in all of the categories where they identify. For instance, a person who reports that they are Black and Asian would be counted in both the "Black or African American" category and the "Asian" category. Percentages in race/ethnicity distribution tables may add up to more than 100 because each category includes people who chose multiple race/ethnicity categories. This approach aligns with one of the recommended tabulation options described in the 2024 revision of Office of Management and Budget's Statistical Policy Directive No. 15 (SPD-15), released under the Biden Administration.²

1

¹ https://capolicylab.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/01/Data-Subcommittee-Baselines-report.pdf

² https://spd15revision.gov/

The recent updates to SPD-15 changed two aspects of how race and ethnicity are collected in HMIS and CHAMP:³

- Hispanic or Latino question. Starting in October 2023, service participants have been asked a single question about race and ethnicity, with Hispanic and Latino as one option, rather than splitting the question in two (Hispanic/Latino ethnicity, then race). To make numbers comparable across reporting periods, we count people who identify as "Hispanic or Latino" and "White" before the October 2023 implementation date as Hispanic or Latino.⁴
- Middle Eastern or North African category. The Middle Eastern or North African option
 was not available to service participants before October 2023, so the number of Middle
 Eastern or North African people recorded is artificially low, including in the baseline year
 of FY 2023–24.⁵ We suppress the data for FY 2019–20 through FY 2022–23 in the
 tables that follow.

Gender identity. Similar to race and ethnicity, we count people who identify with multiple genders in all of the categories where they identify—so a person who identifies as a man and as transgender would be counted in both the "man" and the "transgender" category.

Age group. We derive service participants' ages from dates of service and years of birth recorded in HMIS or CHAMP. For each reporting period, we calculate the number of years between a person's date of birth and their first or last qualifying event during that reporting period. We chose the age ranges reported in the tables in this memo to allow for comparability to the Point in Time Count.

Veteran status. We use self-reported data in HMIS and CHAMP to indicate whether service participants are veterans. These numbers may be an undercount of veterans experiencing homelessness because they include only veterans served by County and LAHSA services who

³ The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) adopted these standards for HMIS in October 2023, ahead of the finalization of OMB's SPD-15 standards.

⁴ Specifically, this change applies to people who identify as Hispanic and Latino and White and whose record was created before October 1st, 2023. People whose profile was created after October 2023 have had the chance to report their race/ethnicity in the one-question format, so we count them as Hispanic or Latino and White. Our analysis showed a sharp drop in the number of people who identified as both White and Hispanic or Latino following changes to the HUD HMIS standard, from 27% under the old data collection standard to 5% under the new standard. This suggests that counting people who identified as both White and Hispanic or Latino using the old question format as White would make the count of White people artificially high.

⁵ People are only counted in this category if they have created or updated their demographic profile after October 1, 2023, and identify as Middle Eastern or North African. Before FY 2023–24, less than 30 service participants experiencing homelessness were counted as Middle Eastern or North African each year. There were significantly more in FY 2023–24, after the change to collection (see Table 1). However, this number is probably also an undercount, since the service population in FY 2023–24 includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been recently updated.
⁶ For metrics 1, 1a, 1b, 2, and 4, the first qualifying record indicating that they are experiencing homelessness or unsheltered homelessness during the reporting period. For metrics 3 and 3a, the last record indicating that they have exited to permanent housing during the reporting period.

are willing to report their status to service providers. Veterans served *only* by the Veteran's Administration are not included because VA data is not yet integrated with County service data.

Unknown responses. We include a category in each demographic grouping that represents service participants without a known race or ethnicity, gender, age, or veteran status. People in this category may have different outcomes because they are less connected to the homelessness response system. In many cases, more people fell into the "no response" category in FY 2023–24, reflecting the fact that these records are more recently created and service participants have had fewer opportunities to update their demographic information.

About this memo

The following sections are organized by demographic grouping (race/ethnicity, gender, age, and veteran status). Each section begins with a table that displays the characteristics of all service participants experiencing homelessness. For each metric, we provide two tables:

- A table that displays the rate at which each demographic group is counted in the metric. These tables allow for comparisons across groups: for instance, Table 37 compares the percentage of men experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing (15% in FY 2023–24) to the percentage for women (20%) and gender diverse people (19%).
- A table that displays the demographic characteristics of people who are counted in the metric. These tables provide information about the composition of specific groups—for instance, what proportion of unsheltered service participants are women (Table 24) or how many of the people who exited to permanent housing were veterans.

We suppress cells with fewer than ten individuals in order to preserve service participants' privacy.

Contents

Race or ethnicity tables	
Gender tables	36
Age group tables	57
Veteran status tables	88

Race or ethnicity

Table 1: Race or ethnicity of all service participants experiencing homelessness Race or ethnicity of service participants who experienced homelessness during the reporting period

	FY	2019–20	FY	2020–21	FY 20	021–22	FY	2022–23	022–23 FY 2023–24		
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Count	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	
All service participants experiencing homelessness	91,690		89,411		94,827		103,229		112,287		
American Indian or Alaska Native	2,064	2%	2,328	3%	2,250	2%	2,205	2%	2,068	2%	
Asian	1,455	2%	1,552	2%	1,561	2%	1,756	2%	1,786	2%	
Black or African American	34,888	38%	32,354	36%	34,762	37%	37,418	36%	40,708	36%	
Hispanic or Latino	29,758	32%	31,494	35%	34,044	36%	37,617	36%	40,965	36%	
Middle Eastern or North African	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	250	0%	
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	986	1%	902	1%	955	1%	1,058	1%	964	1%	
White	21,792	24%	20,472	23%	20,474	22%	21,992	21%	21,796	19%	
No race or ethnicity reported	5,071	6%	4,549	5%	5,068	5%	5,727	6%	8,481	8%	

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Table 2: Rate of unsheltered homelessness (Metric 1) by race or ethnicity

People who experienced unsheltered homelessness, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

reopie who experienced unsheltered nomeressitess	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	· ·		FY 2023–24
All service participants experiencing homelessness	20				
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	55,894	55,217	57,174	62,860	66,919
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who	61%	62%	60%	61%	60%
experienced unsheltered homelessness	01%	0270	00%	01%	
American Indian or Alaska Native					
Experienced homelessness	2,064	2,328	2,250	2,205	2,068
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	1,224	1,487	1,417	1,286	1,208
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	59%	64%	63%	58%	58%
Asian					
Experienced homelessness	1,455	1,552	1,561	1,756	1,786
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	846	879	826	1,038	1,014
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	58%	57%	53%	59%	57%
Black or African American					
Experienced homelessness	34,888	32,354	34,762	37,418	40,708
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	18,501	17,775	19,217	20,962	22,344
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	53%	55%	55%	56%	55%
Hispanic or Latino					
Experienced homelessness	29,758	31,494	34,044	37,617	40,965
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	17,228	19,349	20,656	23,190	24,803
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	58%	61%	61%	62%	61%
Middle Eastern or North African					
Experienced homelessness	*	*	*	*	250
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	*	*	*	*	168
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	*	*	*	*	67%
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander					
Experienced homelessness	986	902	955	1,058	964
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	569	556	594	660	596
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	58%	62%	62%	62%	62%
White					
Experienced homelessness	21,792	20,472	20,474	21,992	21,796
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	15,961	14,554	14,212	15,564	14,860

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022–23	FY 2023–24
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	73%	71%	69%	71%	68%
No race or ethnicity reported					
Experienced homelessness	5,071	4,549	5,068	5,727	8,481
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	3,791	2,956	2,695	2,671	4,439
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	75%	65%	53%	47%	52%

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Table 3: Race or ethnicity of those who experienced unsheltered homelessness (Metric 1) Race or ethnicity of service participants who experienced unsheltered homelessness

	FY 20:	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 2021–22		FY 20	22–23	FY 2023-24	
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	55,894		55,217		57,174		62,860		66,919	
American Indian or Alaska Native	1,224	2%	1,487	3%	1,417	2%	1,286	2%	1,208	2%
Asian	846	2%	879	2%	826	1%	1,038	2%	1,014	2%
Black or African American	18,501	33%	17,775	32%	19,217	34%	20,962	33%	22,344	33%
Hispanic or Latino	17,228	31%	19,349	35%	20,656	36%	23,190	37%	24,803	37%
Middle Eastern or North African	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	168	0%
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	569	1%	556	1%	594	1%	660	1%	596	1%
White	15,961	29%	14,554	26%	14,212	25%	15,564	25%	14,860	22%
No race or ethnicity reported	3,791	7%	2,956	5%	2,695	5%	2,671	4%	4,439	7%

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Table 4: Rate of unsheltered interim housing access (Metric 1a) by race or ethnicity

People who were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing, out of all unsheltered service participants

	FY 2019-	FY 2020-	FY 2021–	FY 2022-	FY 2023-
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	55,894	55,217	57,174	62,860	66,919
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	13,516	14,971	17,117	20,483	22,804
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered	24%	27%	30%	33%	34%
homelessness who also accessed interim housing					
American Indian or Alaska Native					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	1,224	1,487	1,417	1,286	1,208
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	400	485	514	486	512
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered	33%	33%	36%	38%	42%
homelessness who also accessed interim housing					
Asian					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	846	879	826	1,038	1,014
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	218	271	265	334	379
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	26%	31%	32%	32%	37%
Black or African American					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	18,501	17,775	19,217	20,962	22,344
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	5,904	5,927	6,642	7,775	8,633
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	32%	33%	35%	37%	39%
Hispanic or Latino		·			
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	17,228	19,349	20,656	23,190	24,803
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	3,876	4,844	5,856	7,322	8,413
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	22%	25%	28%	32%	34%
Middle Eastern or North African					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	*	*	*	*	168
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	*	*	*	*	49
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	*	*	*	*	29%
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	569	556	594	660	596
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	152	150	193	231	220
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered	27%	27%	32%	35%	37%
homelessness who also accessed interim housing					
White					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	15,961	14,554	14,212	15,564	14,860
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	3,500	3,882	4,161	4,763	4,738

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	22%	27%	29%	31%	32%
No race or ethnicity reported					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	3,791	2,956	2,695	2,671	4,439
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	187	225	404	556	918
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	5%	8%	15%	21%	21%

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Table 5: Race or ethnicity of unsheltered people who also accessed interim housing (Metric 1a) Race or ethnicity of service participants who were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	FY 2020–21 FY		Y 2021–22 FY 20)22–23 FY 20		23–24
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	13,516		14,971		17,117		20,483		22,804	
American Indian or Alaska Native	400	3%	485	3%	514	3%	486	2%	512	2%
Asian	218	2%	271	2%	265	2%	334	2%	379	2%
Black or African American	5,904	44%	5,927	40%	6,642	39%	7,775	38%	8,633	38%
Hispanic or Latino	3,876	29%	4,844	32%	5,856	34%	7,322	36%	8,413	37%
Middle Eastern or North African	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	49	0%
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	152	1%	150	1%	193	1%	231	1%	220	1%
White	3,500	26%	3,882	26%	4,161	24%	4,763	23%	4,738	21%
No race or ethnicity reported	187	1%	225	2%	404	2%	556	3%	918	4%

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Table 6: Rate of unsheltered exits to housing (Metric 1b) by race or ethnicity

People who were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing, out of all unsheltered service participants

	FY 2019-	FY 2020–	FY 2021–	FY 2022–	FY 2023-
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	55,894	55,217	57,174	62,860	66,919
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	3,074	3,372	3,263	4,369	5,907
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered	5%	6%	6%	7%	9%
homelessness who exited to permanent housing				,	
American Indian or Alaska Native					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	1,224	1,487	1,417	1,286	1,208
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	86	100	103	100	134
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered	7%	7%	7%	8%	11%
homelessness who exited to permanent housing					
Asian					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	846	879	826	1,038	1,014
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	37	51	48	66	82
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	4%	6%	6%	6%	8%
Black or African American		·	<u> </u>		
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	18,501	17,775	19,217	20,962	22,344
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	1,520	1,582	1,514	1,937	2,501
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	8%	9%	8%	9%	11%
Hispanic or Latino	·		·		
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	17,228	19,349	20,656	23,190	24,803
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	780	953	932	1,419	2,103
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	5%	5%	5%	6%	8%
Middle Eastern or North African	·		·		
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	*	*	*	*	168
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	*	*	*	*	1
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	*	*	*	*	1
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	569	556	594	660	596
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	28	34	35	52	58
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered	5%	6%	6%	8%	10%
homelessness who exited to permanent housing					
White					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	15,961	14,554	14,212	15,564	14,860
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	739	778	752	912	1,093

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	5%	5%	5%	6%	7%
No race or ethnicity reported					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	3,791	2,956	2,695	2,671	4,439
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	35	58	45	102	207
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	1%	2%	2%	4%	5%

 $^{^{1}}$ Cells below n = 10 were suppressed to protect service participant privacy.

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Table 7: Race or ethnicity of unsheltered people who exited to housing (Metric 1b)
Race or ethnicity of service participants who were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing

	FY 20	19–20	FY 2020-21		FY 2021–22		FY 2022–23		FY 2023-24	
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	3,074		3,372		3,263		4,369		5,907	
American Indian or Alaska Native	86	3%	100	3%	103	3%	100	2%	134	2%
Asian	37	1%	51	2%	48	1%	66	2%	82	1%
Black or African American	1,520	49%	1,582	47%	1,514	46%	1,937	44%	2,501	42%
Hispanic or Latino	780	25%	953	28%	932	29%	1,419	32%	2,103	36%
Middle Eastern or North African	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	1	
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	28	1%	34	1%	35	1%	52	1%	58	1%
White	739	24%	778	23%	752	23%	912	21%	1,093	19%
No race or ethnicity reported	35	1%	58	2%	45	1%	102	2%	207	4%

 $^{^{1}}$ Cells below n = 10 were suppressed to protect service participant privacy.

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Table 8: Rate of people with substance use disorders or serious mental illness (Metric 2) by race or ethnicity

People who have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI), out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

participants experiencing nomelessness					
	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022–23	FY 2023–24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	31,053	34,020	38,247	41,011	43,032
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	34%	38%	40%	40%	38%
American Indian or Alaska Native					
Experienced homelessness	2,064	2,328	2,250	2,205	2,068
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	943	1,084	1,120	1,059	1,017
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	46%	47%	50%	48%	49%
Asian					
Experienced homelessness	1,455	1,552	1,561	1,756	1,786
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	493	611	647	727	760
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	34%	39%	41%	41%	43%
Black or African American					
Experienced homelessness	34,888	32,354	34,762	37,418	40,708
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	12,911	13,567	14,759	15,344	16,036
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	37%	42%	42%	41%	39%
Hispanic or Latino					
Experienced homelessness	29,758	31,494	34,044	37,617	40,965
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	9,476	11,091	13,079	14,436	14,918
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	32%	35%	38%	38%	36%
Middle Eastern or North African					
Experienced homelessness	*	*	*	*	250
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	*	*	*	*	80
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	*	*	*	*	32%
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander					

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022–23	FY 2023–24
Experienced homelessness	986	902	955	1,058	964
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	363	364	409	490	446
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	37%	40%	43%	46%	46%
White					
Experienced homelessness	21,792	20,472	20,474	21,992	21,796
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	8,110	8,621	9,476	10,095	10,182
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	37%	42%	46%	46%	47%
No race or ethnicity reported					
Experienced homelessness	5,071	4,549	5,068	5,727	8,481
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	448	537	743	950	1,642
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	9%	12%	15%	17%	19%

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Table 9: Race or ethnicity of people with substance use disorders or serious mental illness (Metric 2)

Race or ethnicity of service participants who have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)

	FY 20:	19–20	FY 20	FY 2020–21 FY 2021–2		21–22	2 FY 2022–23		FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	31,053		34,020		38,247		41,011		43,032	
American Indian or Alaska Native	943	3%	1,084	3%	1,120	3%	1,059	3%	1,017	2%
Asian	493	2%	611	2%	647	2%	727	2%	760	2%
Black or African American	12,911	42%	13,567	40%	14,759	39%	15,344	37%	16,036	37%
Hispanic or Latino	9,476	31%	11,091	33%	13,079	34%	14,436	35%	14,918	35%
Middle Eastern or North African	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	80	0%
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	363	1%	364	1%	409	1%	490	1%	446	1%
White	8,110	26%	8,621	25%	9,476	25%	10,095	25%	10,182	24%
No race or ethnicity reported	448	1%	537	2%	743	2%	950	2%	1,642	4%

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Table 10: Rate of people with serious mental illness only (Metric 2a) by race or ethnicity

People who have evidence of serious mental illness, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

respie wito have evidence of serious mental lines	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	· ·	FY 2022–23	
All convice nexticinents experiencing hamplesceness	20	21			
All service participants experiencing homelessness Experienced homelessness	91,690	90 411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Have evidence of serious mental illness		89,411			
	15,001 16%	13,639	14,087	14,030	14,033
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	10%	15%	15%	14%	12%
American Indian or Alaska Native					
Experienced homelessness	2,064	2,328	2,250	2,205	2,068
Have evidence of serious mental illness	423	406	358	341	311
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	20%	17%	16%	15%	15%
Asian					
Experienced homelessness	1,455	1,552	1,561	1,756	1,786
Have evidence of serious mental illness	297	294	295	332	342
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	20%	19%	19%	19%	19%
Black or African American	*				
Experienced homelessness	34,888	32,354	34,762	37,418	40,708
Have evidence of serious mental illness	7,067	6,096	6,250	6,139	6,230
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	20%	19%	18%	16%	15%
Hispanic or Latino	•	•			
Experienced homelessness	29,758	31,494	34,044	37,617	40,965
Have evidence of serious mental illness	3,993	3,861	4,058	4,130	3,947
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	13%	12%	12%	11%	10%
Middle Eastern or North African	*				
Experienced homelessness	*	*	*	*	250
Have evidence of serious mental illness	*	*	*	*	37
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	*	*	*	*	15%
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander					
Experienced homelessness	986	902	955	1,058	964
Have evidence of serious mental illness	171	146	162	165	152
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	17%	16%	17%	16%	16%
White	•	•			
Experienced homelessness	21,792	20,472	20,474	21,992	21,796
Have evidence of serious mental illness	3,632	3,327	3,337	3,302	3,104

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022–23	FY 2023–24
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	17%	16%	16%	15%	14%
No race or ethnicity reported					
Experienced homelessness	5,071	4,549	5,068	5,727	8,481
Have evidence of serious mental illness	260	251	324	389	632
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	5%	6%	6%	7%	7%

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Table 11: Race or ethnicity of people with serious mental illness only (Metric 2a)

Race or ethnicity of service participants who have evidence of serious mental illness

	FY 20	19–20	FY 2020–21 FY 2021–2		21–22	FY 20	22–23	FY 2023-24		
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	15,001		13,639		14,087		14,030		14,033	
American Indian or Alaska Native	423	3%	406	3%	358	3%	341	2%	311	2%
Asian	297	2%	294	2%	295	2%	332	2%	342	2%
Black or African American	7,067	47%	6,096	45%	6,250	44%	6,139	44%	6,230	44%
Hispanic or Latino	3,993	27%	3,861	28%	4,058	29%	4,130	29%	3,947	28%
Middle Eastern or North African	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	37	0%
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	171	1%	146	1%	162	1%	165	1%	152	1%
White	3,632	24%	3,327	24%	3,337	24%	3,302	24%	3,104	22%
No race or ethnicity reported	260	2%	251	2%	324	2%	389	3%	632	5%

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Table 12: Rate of people with substance use disorders only (Metric 2b) by race or ethnicity People who have evidence of substance use disorder, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

respie who have evidence of substance use disore	FY 2019-	FY 2020–	FY 2021-	FY 2022–23	
	20	21	22		
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Have evidence of substance use disorder	5,031	5,643	6,802	7,857	8,724
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	5%	6%	7%	8%	8%
American Indian or Alaska Native					
Experienced homelessness	2,064	2,328	2,250	2,205	2,068
Have evidence of substance use disorder	143	163	167	159	175
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	7%	7%	7%	7%	8%
Asian					
Experienced homelessness	1,455	1,552	1,561	1,756	1,786
Have evidence of substance use disorder	63	72	86	104	120
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	4%	5%	6%	6%	7%
Black or African American	·	·			
Experienced homelessness	34,888	32,354	34,762	37,418	40,708
Have evidence of substance use disorder	1,509	1,681	1,936	2,191	2,369
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	4%	5%	6%	6%	6%
Hispanic or Latino	·	·			
Experienced homelessness	29,758	31,494	34,044	37,617	40,965
Have evidence of substance use disorder	2,046	2,427	3,030	3,515	3,887
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	7%	8%	9%	9%	9%
Middle Eastern or North African					
Experienced homelessness	*	*	*	*	250
Have evidence of substance use disorder	*	*	*	*	13
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	*	*	*	*	5%
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander					
Experienced homelessness	986	902	955	1,058	964
Have evidence of substance use disorder	49	44	61	88	70
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	5%	5%	6%	8%	7%
White	·				
Experienced homelessness	21,792	20,472	20,474	21,992	21,796
Have evidence of substance use disorder	1,381	1,413	1,659	1,929	2,059

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022–23	FY 2023–24
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	6%	7%	8%	9%	9%
No race or ethnicity reported					
Experienced homelessness	5,071	4,549	5,068	5,727	8,481
Have evidence of substance use disorder	74	107	146	190	329
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	1%	2%	3%	3%	4%

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Table 13: Race or ethnicity of people with substance use disorders only (Metric 2b)

Race or ethnicity of service participants who have evidence of substance use disorder

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 20	22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent								
All service participants experiencing homelessness	5,031		5,643		6,802		7,857		8,724	
American Indian or Alaska Native	143	3%	163	3%	167	2%	159	2%	175	2%
Asian	63	1%	72	1%	86	1%	104	1%	120	1%
Black or African American	1,509	30%	1,681	30%	1,936	28%	2,191	28%	2,369	27%
Hispanic or Latino	2,046	41%	2,427	43%	3,030	45%	3,515	45%	3,887	45%
Middle Eastern or North African	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	13	0%
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	49	1%	44	1%	61	1%	88	1%	70	1%
White	1,381	27%	1,413	25%	1,659	24%	1,929	25%	2,059	24%
No race or ethnicity reported	74	1%	107	2%	146	2%	190	2%	329	4%

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Table 14: Rate of people with both substance use disorders and serious mental illness (Metric 2c) by race or ethnicity

People who have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD), out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

participants experiencing nomelessness					
	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022–23	FY 2023–24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	11,021	14,738	17,358	19,124	20,275
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	12%	16%	18%	19%	18%
American Indian or Alaska Native					
Experienced homelessness	2,064	2,328	2,250	2,205	2,068
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	377	515	595	559	531
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	18%	22%	26%	25%	26%
Asian					
Experienced homelessness	1,455	1,552	1,561	1,756	1,786
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	133	245	266	291	298
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	9%	16%	17%	17%	17%
Black or African American					
Experienced homelessness	34,888	32,354	34,762	37,418	40,708
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	4,335	5,790	6,573	7,014	7,437
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	12%	18%	19%	19%	18%
Hispanic or Latino					
Experienced homelessness	29,758	31,494	34,044	37,617	40,965
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	3,437	4,803	5,991	6,791	7,084
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	12%	15%	18%	18%	17%
Middle Eastern or North African					
Experienced homelessness	*	*	*	*	250
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	*	*	*	*	30
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	*	*	*	*	12%
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander					

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022–23	FY 2023–24
Experienced homelessness	986	902	955	1,058	964
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	143	174	186	237	224
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	15%	19%	19%	22%	23%
White					
Experienced homelessness	21,792	20,472	20,474	21,992	21,796
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	3,097	3,881	4,480	4,864	5,019
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	14%	19%	22%	22%	23%
No race or ethnicity reported					
Experienced homelessness	5,071	4,549	5,068	5,727	8,481
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	114	179	273	371	681
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	2%	4%	5%	6%	8%

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Table 15: Race or ethnicity of people with both substance use disorders and serious mental illness (Metric 2c)

Race or ethnicity of service participants who have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	FY 2020–21 FY 20		21–22 FY 2022–		22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	11,021		14,738		17,358		19,124		20,275	
American Indian or Alaska Native	377	3%	515	3%	595	3%	559	3%	531	3%
Asian	133	1%	245	2%	266	2%	291	2%	298	1%
Black or African American	4,335	39%	5,790	39%	6,573	38%	7,014	37%	7,437	37%
Hispanic or Latino	3,437	31%	4,803	33%	5,991	35%	6,791	36%	7,084	35%
Middle Eastern or North African	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	30	0%
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	143	1%	174	1%	186	1%	237	1%	224	1%
White	3,097	28%	3,881	26%	4,480	26%	4,864	25%	5,019	25%
No race or ethnicity reported	114	1%	179	1%	273	2%	371	2%	681	3%

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Table 16: Rate of exits to permanent housing (Metric 3) by race or ethnicity

People who exited to permanent housing, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

	FY 2019–	FY 2020-	FY 2021-	FY 2022–23	FY 2023–24
	20	21	22		
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Exited to permanent housing	13,889	13,763	13,400	15,210	19,168
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	15%	15%	14%	15%	17%
American Indian or Alaska Native					
Experienced homelessness	2,064	2,328	2,250	2,205	2,068
Exited to permanent housing	309	352	350	344	415
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	15%	15%	16%	16%	20%
Asian					
Experienced homelessness	1,455	1,552	1,561	1,756	1,786
Exited to permanent housing	185	252	252	256	337
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	13%	16%	16%	15%	19%
Black or African American					
Experienced homelessness	34,888	32,354	34,762	37,418	40,708
Exited to permanent housing	6,933	6,533	5,953	6,668	7,993
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	20%	20%	17%	18%	20%
Hispanic or Latino		·			
Experienced homelessness	29,758	31,494	34,044	37,617	40,965
Exited to permanent housing	4,578	4,513	4,673	5,446	7,168
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	15%	14%	14%	14%	17%
Middle Eastern or North African					
Experienced homelessness	*	*	*	*	250
Exited to permanent housing	*	*	*	*	20
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	*	*	*	*	8%
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander					
Experienced homelessness	986	902	955	1,058	964
Exited to permanent housing	156	131	123	160	172
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	16%	15%	13%	15%	18%
White					
Experienced homelessness	21,792	20,472	20,474	21,992	21,796
Exited to permanent housing	2,197	2,399	2,337	2,589	3,153

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022–23	FY 2023–24
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	10%	12%	11%	12%	14%
No race or ethnicity reported					
Experienced homelessness	5,071	4,549	5,068	5,727	8,481
Exited to permanent housing	353	392	423	540	904
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	7%	9%	8%	9%	11%

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Table 17: Race or ethnicity of those who exited to permanent housing (Metric 3) Race or ethnicity of service participants who exited to permanent housing

	FY 20:	019–20 FY 2020–21 FY 2021–22		21–22	FY 20	22–23	FY 2023-24			
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	13,889		13,763		13,400		15,210		19,168	
American Indian or Alaska Native	309	2%	352	3%	350	3%	344	2%	415	2%
Asian	185	1%	252	2%	252	2%	256	2%	337	2%
Black or African American	6,933	50%	6,533	47%	5,953	44%	6,668	44%	7,993	42%
Hispanic or Latino	4,578	33%	4,513	33%	4,673	35%	5,446	36%	7,168	37%
Middle Eastern or North African	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	20	0%
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	156	1%	131	1%	123	1%	160	1%	172	1%
White	2,197	16%	2,399	17%	2,337	17%	2,589	17%	3,153	16%
No race or ethnicity reported	353	3%	392	3%	423	3%	540	4%	904	5%

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Table 18: Rate of retention in permanent housing (Metric 3a) by race or ethnicity

People who exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months, out of all service participants who exited to permanent housing

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Exited to permanent housing	13,889	13,763	13,400	15,210	19,168
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	11,833	10,904	10,600	۸	۸
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	85%	79%	79%	۸	٨
American Indian or Alaska Native					
Exited to permanent housing	309	352	350	344	415
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	242	270	257	۸	٨
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	78%	77%	73%	۸	٨
Asian					
Exited to permanent housing	185	252	252	256	337
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	157	201	211	۸	٨
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	85%	80%	84%	۸	٨
Black or African American					
Exited to permanent housing	6,933	6,533	5,953	6,668	7,993
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	5,836	5,085	4,585	۸	۸
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	84%	78%	77%	۸	۸
Hispanic or Latino					
Exited to permanent housing	4,578	4,513	4,673	5,446	7,168
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	4,028	3,706	3,848	۸	٨
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	88%	82%	82%	٨	٨
Middle Eastern or North African					
Exited to permanent housing	*	*	*	*	20
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	*	*	*	۸	٨
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	*	*	*	٨	٨
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander					
Exited to permanent housing	156	131	123	160	172

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	136	99	92	٨	٨
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	87%	76%	75%	٨	۸
White					
Exited to permanent housing	2,197	2,399	2,337	2,589	3,153
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	1,782	1,824	1,778	٨	٨
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	81%	76%	76%	٨	٨
No race or ethnicity reported					
Exited to permanent housing	353	392	423	540	904
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	327	349	374	٨	٨
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	93%	89%	88%	٨	۸

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

[^] Data about retention in housing is not available for more recent years because 24 months have not elapsed. Source: HMIS and CHAMP. People who identify with multiple races or ethnicities are counted in each category where they identify.

Table 19: Race or ethnicity of those who were retained in permanent housing (Metric 3a)

Race or ethnicity of service participants who exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months

	FY 2019–20		-20 FY 2020–21		FY 20	FY 2021–22		FY 2022-23		FY 2023-24	
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	
All service participants experiencing homelessness	11,833		10,904		10,600						
American Indian or Alaska Native	242	2%	270	2%	257	2%	۸	۸	۸	۸	
Asian	157	1%	201	2%	211	2%	٨	٨	۸	٨	
Black or African American	5,836	49%	5,085	47%	4,585	43%	۸	۸	۸	۸	
Hispanic or Latino	4,028	34%	3,706	34%	3,848	36%	٨	٨	۸	٨	
Middle Eastern or North African	*	*	*	*	*	*	۸	۸	۸	۸	
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	136	1%	99	1%	92	1%	۸	^	۸	۸	
White	1,782	15%	1,824	17%	1,778	17%	٨	٨	۸	٨	
No race or ethnicity reported	327	3%	349	3%	374	4%	۸	۸	۸	^	

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

[^] Data about retention in housing is not available for more recent years because 24 months have not elapsed. Source: HMIS and CHAMP. People who identify with multiple races or ethnicities are counted in each category where they identify. Percentages may not sum to 100.

Table 20: Rate of people new to homelessness (Metric 4) by race or ethnicity

People who were newly accessing services in the last 24 months, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

	FY 2019–	FY 2020-	EV 2021_	FY 2022–23	EV 2022_24
	20	21	22	F1 2022-23	F1 2023-24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	58,875	50,866	55,042	59,111	64,667
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	64%	57%	58%	57%	58%
American Indian or Alaska Native					
Experienced homelessness	2,064	2,328	2,250	2,205	2,068
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	1,125	1,258	1,068	1,024	900
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	55%	54%	47%	46%	44%
Asian					
Experienced homelessness	1,455	1,552	1,561	1,756	1,786
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	954	910	901	1,001	969
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	66%	59%	58%	57%	54%
Black or African American					
Experienced homelessness	34,888	32,354	34,762	37,418	40,708
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	20,782	16,913	19,510	20,744	22,749
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	60%	52%	56%	55%	56%
Hispanic or Latino					
Experienced homelessness	29,758	31,494	34,044	37,617	40,965
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	19,767	18,923	20,293	22,082	23,923
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	66%	60%	60%	59%	58%
Middle Eastern or North African					
Experienced homelessness	*	*	*	*	250
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	*	*	*	*	226
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	*	*	*	*	90%
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander					
Experienced homelessness	986	902	955	1,058	964

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022–23	FY 2023–24
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	598	477	541	530	424
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	61%	53%	57%	50%	44%
White					
Experienced homelessness	21,792	20,472	20,474	21,992	21,796
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	13,753	10,997	10,819	11,625	11,021
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	63%	54%	53%	53%	51%
No race or ethnicity reported					
Experienced homelessness	5,071	4,549	5,068	5,727	8,481
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	4,411	3,593	4,080	4,398	6,896
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	87%	79%	81%	77%	81%

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Table 21: Race or ethnicity of people new to homelessness (Metric 4)

Race or ethnicity of service participants who were newly accessing services in the last 24 months

	FY 2019–20		FY 20	FY 2020–21 FY 2021–22			FY 20	22–23	FY 2023-24	
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	58,875		50,866		55,042		59,111		64,667	
American Indian or Alaska Native	1,125	2%	1,258	2%	1,068	2%	1,024	2%	900	1%
Asian	954	2%	910	2%	901	2%	1,001	2%	969	1%
Black or African American	20,782	35%	16,913	33%	19,510	35%	20,744	35%	22,749	35%
Hispanic or Latino	19,767	34%	18,923	37%	20,293	37%	22,082	37%	23,923	37%
Middle Eastern or North African	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	226	0%
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	598	1%	477	1%	541	1%	530	1%	424	1%
White	13,753	23%	10,997	22%	10,819	20%	11,625	20%	11,021	17%
No race or ethnicity reported	4,411	7%	3,593	7%	4,080	7%	4,398	7%	6,896	11%

^{*}The Middle Eastern or North African category was not used before October 2023. The number of Middle Eastern or North African people in FY 2023–24 may be an undercount because the service population includes people whose race/ethnicity information was collected in prior years and has not been updated recently.

Gender

Table 22: Gender of all service participants experiencing homelessness

Gender of service participants who experienced homelessness during the reporting period

	FY 2019–20		9–20 FY 2020–21		FY 2021–22		FY 2022-23		FY 2023-24	
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	91,690		89,411		94,827		103,229		112,287	
Men	55,544	61%	55,541	62%	57,317	60%	61,724	60%	67,263	60%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different identities	756	1%	797	1%	966	1%	1,086	1%	1,219	1%
Women	33,950	37%	32,154	36%	35,304	37%	38,965	38%	43,217	38%
No gender reported	2,057	2%	1,520	2%	1,836	2%	2,027	2%	1,187	1%

Table 23: Rate of unsheltered homelessness (Metric 1) by gender
People who experienced unsheltered homelessness, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

	FY 2019–	FY 2020-	FY 2021-	FY 2022-	FY 2023-
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	55,894	55,217	57,174	62,860	66,919
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	61%	62%	60%	61%	60%
Men					
Experienced homelessness	55,544	55,541	57,317	61,724	67,263
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	35,142	36,006	36,504	39,860	42,191
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	63%	65%	64%	65%	63%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and differ	rent identities		•		
Experienced homelessness	756	797	966	1,086	1,219
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	526	505	587	728	746
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	70%	63%	61%	67%	61%
Women				·	
Experienced homelessness	33,950	32,154	35,304	38,965	43,217
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	19,019	18,206	19,679	22,032	23,883
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	56%	57%	56%	57%	55%
No gender reported			•		
Experienced homelessness	2,057	1,520	1,836	2,027	1,187
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	1,643	912	784	672	538
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	80%	60%	43%	33%	45%

Table 24: Gender those who experienced unsheltered homelessness (Metric 1)

Gender of service participants who experienced unsheltered homelessness

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 2022–23		FY 2023-24	
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	55,894		55,217		57,174		62,860		66,919	
Men	35,142	63%	36,006	65%	36,504	64%	39,860	63%	42,191	63%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different identities	526	1%	505	1%	587	1%	728	1%	746	1%
Women	19,019	34%	18,206	33%	19,679	34%	22,032	35%	23,883	36%
No gender reported	1,643	3%	912	2%	784	1%	672	1%	538	1%

Table 25: Rate of unsheltered interim housing access (Metric 1a) by gender

People who were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing, out of all unsheltered service participants

		FY 2020-			
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	55,894	55,217	57,174	62,860	66,919
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	13,516	14,971	17,117	20,483	22,804
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	24%	27%	30%	33%	34%
Men					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	35,142	36,006	36,504	39,860	42,191
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	8,120	9,084	10,326	11,949	13,259
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	23%	25%	28%	30%	31%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different ide	entities				
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	526	505	587	728	746
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	202	188	237	319	351
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	38%	37%	40%	44%	47%
Women					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	19,019	18,206	19,679	22,032	23,883
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	5,332	5,822	6,663	8,329	9,318
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	28%	32%	34%	38%	39%
No gender reported					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	1,643	912	784	672	538
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	26	32	58	85	96
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	2%	4%	7%	13%	18%

Table 26: Gender of unsheltered people who also accessed interim housing (Metric 1a) Gender of service participants who were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 20	22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent								
All service participants experiencing homelessness	13,516		14,971		17,117		20,483		22,804	
Men	8,120	60%	9,084	61%	10,326	60%	11,949	58%	13,259	58%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different identities	202	1%	188	1%	237	1%	319	2%	351	2%
Women	5,332	39%	5,822	39%	6,663	39%	8,329	41%	9,318	41%
No gender reported	26	0%	32	0%	58	0%	85	0%	96	0%

Table 27: Rate of unsheltered exits to housing (Metric 1b) by gender

People who were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing, out of all unsheltered service participants

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022- 23	FY 2023– 24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	55,894	55,217	57,174	62,860	66,919
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	3,074	3,372	3,263	4,369	5,907
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	5%	6%	6%	7%	9%
Men					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	35,142	36,006	36,504	39,860	42,191
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	1,693	1,890	1,825	2,368	3,083
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	5%	5%	5%	6%	7%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different ide	entities				
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	526	505	587	728	746
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	45	50	44	55	81
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	9%	10%	7%	8%	11%
Women	•				
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	19,019	18,206	19,679	22,032	23,883
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	1,367	1,468	1,414	1,962	2,763
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	7%	8%	7%	9%	12%
No gender reported					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	1,643	912	784	672	538
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	3	5	5	13	28
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	0%	1%	1%	2%	5%

Table 28: Gender of unsheltered people who exited to housing (Metric 1b)

Gender of service participants who were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20)20–21	FY 20)21–22	FY 20)22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent								
All service participants experiencing homelessness	3,074		3,372		3,263		4,369		5,907	
Men	1,693	55%	1,890	56%	1,825	56%	2,368	54%	3,083	52%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different identities	45	1%	50	1%	44	1%	55	1%	81	1%
Women	1,367	44%	1,468	44%	1,414	43%	1,962	45%	2,763	47%
No gender reported	3	0%	5	0%	5	0%	13	0%	28	0%

Table 29: Rate of people with substance use disorders or serious mental illness (Metric 2) by gender

People who have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI), out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

		FY 2020-		FY 2022-	FY 2023-
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	31,053	34,020	38,247	41,011	43,032
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	34%	38%	40%	40%	38%
Men					
Experienced homelessness	55,544	55,541	57,317	61,724	67,263
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	18,532	20,893	23,267	24,824	26,146
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	33%	38%	41%	40%	39%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different ic	lentities				
Experienced homelessness	756	797	966	1,086	1,219
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	367	429	510	585	639
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	49%	54%	53%	54%	52%
Women					
Experienced homelessness	33,950	32,154	35,304	38,965	43,217
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	12,382	12,938	14,710	15,816	16,450
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	36%	40%	42%	41%	38%
No gender reported					
Experienced homelessness	2,057	1,520	1,836	2,027	1,187
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	83	99	109	140	159
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	4%	7%	6%	7%	13%

Table 30: Gender of people with substance use disorders or serious mental illness (Metric 2) Gender of service participants who have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 2021–22		FY 2022–23		FY 2023-24	
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	31,053		34,020		38,247		41,011		43,032	
Men	18,532	60%	20,893	61%	23,267	61%	24,824	61%	26,146	61%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different identities	367	1%	429	1%	510	1%	585	1%	639	1%
Women	12,382	40%	12,938	38%	14,710	38%	15,816	39%	16,450	38%
No gender reported	83	0%	99	0%	109	0%	140	0%	159	0%

Table 31: Rate of people with serious mental illness only (Metric 2a) by gender

People who have evidence of serious mental illness, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

reopie who have evidence of serious mental liness, out		· ·	<u> </u>		
	FY 2019–	FY 2020-	FY 2021–	FY 2022–	FY 2023-
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Have evidence of serious mental illness	15,001	13,639	14,087	14,030	14,033
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	16%	15%	15%	14%	12%
Men					
Experienced homelessness	55,544	55,541	57,317	61,724	67,263
Have evidence of serious mental illness	7,899	7,234	7,411	7,190	7,218
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	14%	13%	13%	12%	11%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different	identities		•		
Experienced homelessness	756	797	966	1,086	1,219
Have evidence of serious mental illness	194	201	240	256	271
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	26%	25%	25%	24%	22%
Women					
Experienced homelessness	33,950	32,154	35,304	38,965	43,217
Have evidence of serious mental illness	7,019	6,313	6,542	6,680	6,619
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	21%	20%	19%	17%	15%
No gender reported					
Experienced homelessness	2,057	1,520	1,836	2,027	1,187
Have evidence of serious mental illness	45	48	50	60	57
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	2%	3%	3%	3%	5%

Table 32: Gender of people with serious mental illness only (Metric 2a)

Gender of service participants who have evidence of serious mental illness

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 20	22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent								
All service participants experiencing homelessness	15,001		13,639		14,087		14,030		14,033	
Men	7,899	53%	7,234	53%	7,411	53%	7,190	51%	7,218	51%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different identities	194	1%	201	1%	240	2%	256	2%	271	2%
Women	7,019	47%	6,313	46%	6,542	46%	6,680	48%	6,619	47%
No gender reported	45	0%	48	0%	50	0%	60	0%	57	0%

Table 33: Rate of people with substance use disorders only (Metric 2b) by gender

People who have evidence of substance use disorder, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

reopie willo have evidence of substance use disorder, od		· ·	<u> </u>		
	FY 2019-	FY 2020-		FY 2022-	FY 2023-
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Have evidence of substance use disorder	5,031	5,643	6,802	7,857	8,724
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	5%	6%	7%	8%	8%
Men					
Experienced homelessness	55,544	55,541	57,317	61,724	67,263
Have evidence of substance use disorder	3,587	4,137	4,894	5,572	6,212
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	6%	7%	9%	9%	9%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different	identities				
Experienced homelessness	756	797	966	1,086	1,219
Have evidence of substance use disorder	29	32	36	49	58
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	4%	4%	4%	5%	5%
Women			·	·	
Experienced homelessness	33,950	32,154	35,304	38,965	43,217
Have evidence of substance use disorder	1,427	1,477	1,878	2,234	2,451
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	4%	5%	5%	6%	6%
No gender reported					
Experienced homelessness	2,057	1,520	1,836	2,027	1,187
Have evidence of substance use disorder	14	19	18	30	34
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	1%	1%	1%	1%	3%

Table 34: Gender of people with substance use disorders only (Metric 2b)

Gender of service participants who have evidence of substance use disorder

	FY 20)19–20	FY 20)20–21	FY 20)21–22	FY 20)22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent								
All service participants experiencing homelessness	5,031		5,643		6,802		7,857		8,724	
Men	3,587	71%	4,137	73%	4,894	72%	5,572	71%	6,212	71%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different identities	29	1%	32	1%	36	1%	49	1%	58	1%
Women	1,427	28%	1,477	26%	1,878	28%	2,234	28%	2,451	28%
No gender reported	14	0%	19	0%	18	0%	30	0%	34	0%

Table 35: Rate of people with both substance use disorders and serious mental illness (Metric 2c) by gender

People who have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD), out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

	FY 2019–	FY 2020-	FY 2021–	FY 2022-	FY 2023-
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	11,021	14,738	17,358	19,124	20,275
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	12%	16%	18%	19%	18%
Men					
Experienced homelessness	55,544	55,541	57,317	61,724	67,263
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	7,046	9,522	10,962	12,062	12,716
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	13%	17%	19%	20%	19%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different ic	dentities				
Experienced homelessness	756	797	966	1,086	1,219
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	144	196	234	280	310
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	19%	25%	24%	26%	25%
Women					
Experienced homelessness	33,950	32,154	35,304	38,965	43,217
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	3,936	5,148	6,290	6,902	7,380
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	12%	16%	18%	18%	17%
No gender reported					
Experienced homelessness	2,057	1,520	1,836	2,027	1,187
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	24	32	41	50	68
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	1%	2%	2%	2%	6%

Table 36: Gender of people with both substance use disorders and serious mental illness (Metric 2c)

Gender of service participants who have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 20	22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent								
All service participants experiencing homelessness	11,021		14,738		17,358		19,124		20,275	
Men	7,046	64%	9,522	65%	10,962	63%	12,062	63%	12,716	63%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different identities	144	1%	196	1%	234	1%	280	1%	310	2%
Women	3,936	36%	5,148	35%	6,290	36%	6,902	36%	7,380	36%
No gender reported	24	0%	32	0%	41	0%	50	0%	68	0%

Table 37: Rate of exits to permanent housing (Metric 3) by gender
People who exited to permanent housing, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

	-	-	_		
	FY 2019-	FY 2020-	FY 2021-	FY 2022-	FY 2023-
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Exited to permanent housing	13,889	13,763	13,400	15,210	19,168
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	15%	15%	14%	15%	17%
Men				•	
Experienced homelessness	55,544	55,541	57,317	61,724	67,263
Exited to permanent housing	7,283	7,507	7,354	8,213	10,178
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	13%	14%	13%	13%	15%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different i	dentities		·		
Experienced homelessness	756	797	966	1,086	1,219
Exited to permanent housing	103	143	123	162	231
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	14%	18%	13%	15%	19%
Women					
Experienced homelessness	33,950	32,154	35,304	38,965	43,217
Exited to permanent housing	6,541	6,175	5,937	6,852	8,767
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	19%	19%	17%	18%	20%
No gender reported			·		
Experienced homelessness	2,057	1,520	1,836	2,027	1,187
Exited to permanent housing	39	42	54	68	90
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	2%	3%	3%	3%	8%

Table 38: Gender of those who exited to permanent housing (Metric 3)

Gender of service participants who exited to permanent housing

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 20	22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent								
All service participants experiencing homelessness	13,889		13,763		13,400		15,210		19,168	
Men	7,283	52%	7,507	55%	7,354	55%	8,213	54%	10,178	53%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different identities	103	1%	143	1%	123	1%	162	1%	231	1%
Women	6,541	47%	6,175	45%	5,937	44%	6,852	45%	8,767	46%
No gender reported	39	0%	42	0%	54	0%	68	0%	90	0%

Table 39: Rate of retention in permanent housing (Metric 3a) by gender

People who exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months, out of all service participants who exited to permanent housing

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Exited to permanent housing	13,889	13,763	13,400	15,210	19,168
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	11,833	10,904	10,600	۸	۸
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	85%	79%	79%	۸	۸
Men					
Exited to permanent housing	7,283	7,507	7,354	8,213	10,178
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	6,110	5,900	5,744	۸	۸
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	84%	79%	78%	۸	۸
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different in	dentities				
Exited to permanent housing	103	143	123	162	231
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	76	97	91	۸	۸
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	74%	68%	74%	۸	۸
Women					
Exited to permanent housing	6,541	6,175	5,937	6,852	8,767
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	5,670	4,943	4,771	۸	۸
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	87%	80%	80%	۸	۸
No gender reported					
Exited to permanent housing	39	42	54	68	90
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	36	34	43	۸	۸
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	92%	81%	80%	۸	۸

[^] Data about retention in housing is not available for more recent years because 24 months have not elapsed. Source: HMIS and CHAMP. People who identify with multiple gender identities are counted in each category where they identify.

Table 40: Gender of those who were retained in permanent housing (Metric 3a)

Gender of service participants who exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 20)22–23	FY 20)23–24
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	11,833		10,904		10,600					
Men	6,110	52%	5,900	54%	5,744	54%	٨	۸	٨	۸
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different identities	76	1%	97	1%	91	1%	٨	۸	٨	٨
Women	5,670	48%	4,943	45%	4,771	45%	٨	۸	٨	۸
No gender reported	36	0%	34	0%	43	0%	۸	۸	۸	٨

[^] Data about retention in housing is not available for more recent years because 24 months have not elapsed. Source: HMIS and CHAMP. People who identify with multiple gender identities are counted in each category where they identify. Percentages may not sum to 100.

Table 41: Rate of people new to homelessness (Metric 4) by gender

People who were newly accessing services in the last 24 months, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	58,875	50,866	55,042	59,111	64,667
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	64%	57%	58%	57%	58%
Men		·			
Experienced homelessness	55,544	55,541	57,317	61,724	67,263
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	35,844	32,013	32,585	34,825	38,385
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	65%	58%	57%	56%	57%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different	identities	·			
Experienced homelessness	756	797	966	1,086	1,219
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	416	411	535	569	624
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	55%	52%	55%	52%	51%
Women		·			
Experienced homelessness	33,950	32,154	35,304	38,965	43,217
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	21,058	17,478	20,596	22,232	25,043
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	62%	54%	58%	57%	58%
No gender reported	•	·	•		
Experienced homelessness	2,057	1,520	1,836	2,027	1,187
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	1,898	1,244	1,606	1,707	873
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	92%	82%	87%	84%	74%

Table 42: Gender of people new to homelessness (Metric 4)

Gender of service participants who were newly accessing services in the last 24 months

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 20	22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent								
All service participants experiencing homelessness	58,875		50,866		55,042		59,111		64,667	
Men	35,844	61%	32,013	63%	32,585	59%	34,825	59%	38,385	59%
Transgender, nonbinary, culturally specific, and different identities	416	1%	411	1%	535	1%	569	1%	624	1%
Women	21,058	36%	17,478	34%	20,596	37%	22,232	38%	25,043	39%
No gender reported	1,898	3%	1,244	2%	1,606	3%	1,707	3%	873	1%

Age groups

Table 43: Age group of all service participants experiencing homelessness

Age group of service participants who experienced homelessness during the reporting period

	EV 20	19–20	LN 30	20–21	EV 20	21–22	FY 202	nn nn	FY 202	12 24
	FY 20	19-20	FY 20	20-21	FY 20	21-22	FY 202	22-23	F1 2U2	23-24
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	91,690		89,411		94,827		103,229		112,287	
Under 18	9,388	10%	7,080	8%	7,971	8%	9,060	9%	11,874	11%
18 to 24	7,410	8%	6,590	7%	7,410	8%	7,935	8%	8,269	7%
25 to 34	16,701	18%	17,250	19%	19,382	20%	21,243	21%	23,173	21%
35 to 44	16,228	18%	17,176	19%	19,265	20%	21,657	21%	24,102	21%
45 to 54	15,283	17%	15,677	18%	16,045	17%	17,020	16%	18,784	17%
55 to 64	14,251	16%	14,990	17%	14,986	16%	15,361	15%	15,474	14%
65 and older	5,461	6%	6,081	7%	6,400	7%	6,599	6%	7,168	6%
No age group reported	6,929	8%	4,535	5%	3,355	4%	4,331	4%	3,433	3%

Table 44: Rate of unsheltered homelessness (Metric 1) by age group

People who experienced unsheltered homelessness, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

	FY 2019–	FY 2020-	FY 2021-	FY 2022-	FY 2023-
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	55,894	55,217	57,174	62,860	66,919
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	61%	62%	60%	61%	60%
Under 18	•				
Experienced homelessness	9,388	7,080	7,971	9,060	11,874
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	1,111	932	1,436	1,915	2,597
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	12%	13%	18%	21%	22%
18 to 24					
Experienced homelessness	7,410	6,590	7,410	7,935	8,269
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	3,754	3,082	3,531	3,768	4,117
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	51%	47%	48%	47%	50%
25 to 34					
Experienced homelessness	16,701	17,250	19,382	21,243	23,173
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	10,147	10,564	11,688	12,566	13,980
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	61%	61%	60%	59%	60%
35 to 44					
Experienced homelessness	16,228	17,176	19,265	21,657	24,102
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	10,808	11,573	12,949	14,461	15,825
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	67%	67%	67%	67%	66%
45 to 54				·	
Experienced homelessness	15,283	15,677	16,045	17,020	18,784
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	10,613	11,038	11,018	11,837	13,060
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	69%	70%	69%	70%	70%
55 to 64					
Experienced homelessness	14,251	14,990	14,986	15,361	15,474
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	9,349	10,040	9,771	10,243	9,997
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	66%	67%	65%	67%	65%
65 and older					
Experienced homelessness	5,461	6,081	6,400	6,599	7,168
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	3,464	3,684	3,838	4,024	4,289

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	63%	61%	60%	61%	60%
No age group reported					
Experienced homelessness	6,929	4,535	3,355	4,331	3,433
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	6,644	4,302	2,941	4,045	3,052
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	96%	95%	88%	93%	89%

Table 45: Age group those who experienced unsheltered homelessness (Metric 1)

Age group of service participants who experienced unsheltered homelessness

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 20	22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent								
All service participants experiencing homelessness	55,894		55,217		57,174		62,860		66,919	
Under 18	1,111	2%	932	2%	1,436	3%	1,915	3%	2,597	4%
18 to 24	3,754	7%	3,082	6%	3,531	6%	3,768	6%	4,117	6%
25 to 34	10,147	18%	10,564	19%	11,688	20%	12,566	20%	13,980	21%
35 to 44	10,808	19%	11,573	21%	12,949	23%	14,461	23%	15,825	24%
45 to 54	10,613	19%	11,038	20%	11,018	19%	11,837	19%	13,060	20%
55 to 64	9,349	17%	10,040	18%	9,771	17%	10,243	16%	9,997	15%
65 and older	3,464	6%	3,684	7%	3,838	7%	4,024	6%	4,289	6%
No age group reported	6,644	12%	4,302	8%	2,941	5%	4,045	6%	3,052	5%

Table 46: Rate of unsheltered interim housing access (Metric 1a) by age group

People who were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing, out of all unsheltered service participants

reopie who were unsherered and also decessed intermit no	FY 2019-			FY 2022-	
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	55,894	55,217	57,174	62,860	66,919
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	13,516	14,971	17,117	20,483	22,804
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	24%	27%	30%	33%	34%
Under 18					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	1,111	932	1,436	1,915	2,597
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	515	401	743	1,234	1,452
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	46%	43%	52%	64%	56%
18 to 24					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	3,754	3,082	3,531	3,768	4,117
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	1,152	1,033	1,314	1,571	1,722
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	31%	34%	37%	42%	42%
25 to 34					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	10,147	10,564	11,688	12,566	13,980
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	2,400	2,730	3,477	4,303	4,897
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	24%	26%	30%	34%	35%
35 to 44					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	10,808	11,573	12,949	14,461	15,825
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	2,429	2,919	3,745	4,583	5,302
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	22%	25%	29%	32%	34%
45 to 54					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	10,613	11,038	11,018	11,837	13,060
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	2,819	3,227	3,307	3,812	4,160
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	27%	29%	30%	32%	32%
55 to 64					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	9,349	10,040	9,771	10,243	9,997
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	2,977	3,324	3,252	3,605	3,695
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	32%	33%	33%	35%	37%
65 and older					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	3,464	3,684	3,838	4,024	4,289
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	1,188	1,315	1,244	1,335	1,522

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	34%	36%	32%	33%	35%
No age group reported					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	6,644	4,302	2,941	4,045	3,052
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	35	22	35	39	52
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	1%	1%	1%	1%	2%

Table 47: Age group of unsheltered people who also accessed interim housing (Metric 1a) Age group of service participants who were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing

	FY 2019–20		FY 20	FY 2020–21 FY 20		2021–22 FY 20		22–23 FY		2023–24	
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	
All service participants experiencing homelessness	13,516		14,971		17,117		20,483		22,804		
Under 18	515	4%	401	3%	743	4%	1,234	6%	1,452	6%	
18 to 24	1,152	9%	1,033	7%	1,314	8%	1,571	8%	1,722	8%	
25 to 34	2,400	18%	2,730	18%	3,477	20%	4,303	21%	4,897	21%	
35 to 44	2,429	18%	2,919	19%	3,745	22%	4,583	22%	5,302	23%	
45 to 54	2,819	21%	3,227	22%	3,307	19%	3,812	19%	4,160	18%	
55 to 64	2,977	22%	3,324	22%	3,252	19%	3,605	18%	3,695	16%	
65 and older	1,188	9%	1,315	9%	1,244	7%	1,335	7%	1,522	7%	
No age group reported	35	0%	22	0%	35	0%	39	0%	52	0%	

Table 48: Rate of unsheltered exits to housing (Metric 1b) by age group

People who were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing, out of all unsheltered service participants

reopie who were unsheltered and extend to permanent nou		EV 2020_	FY 2021–	EV 2022_	EV 2023_
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness	•				
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	55,894	55,217	57,174	62,860	66,919
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	3,074	3,372	3,263	4,369	5,907
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	5%	6%	6%	7%	9%
Under 18					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	1,111	932	1,436	1,915	2,597
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	177	133	132	448	690
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	16%	14%	9%	23%	27%
18 to 24					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	3,754	3,082	3,531	3,768	4,117
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	389	322	278	415	639
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	10%	10%	8%	11%	16%
25 to 34	•				
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	10,147	10,564	11,688	12,566	13,980
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	531	540	573	760	1,047
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	5%	5%	5%	6%	7%
35 to 44					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	10,808	11,573	12,949	14,461	15,825
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	520	555	589	726	1,121
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	5%	5%	5%	5%	7%
45 to 54	•				
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	10,613	11,038	11,018	11,837	13,060
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	539	678	644	712	918
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	5%	6%	6%	6%	7%
55 to 64					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	9,349	10,040	9,771	10,243	9,997
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	674	797	727	915	1,015
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	7%	8%	7%	9%	10%
65 and older					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	3,464	3,684	3,838	4,024	4,289
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	236	341	317	385	456

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	7%	9%	8%	10%	11%
No age group reported					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	6,644	4,302	2,941	4,045	3,052
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	8	6	3	8	21
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	0%	0%	0%	0%	1%

Table 49: Age group of unsheltered people who exited to housing (Metric 1b)

Age group of service participants who were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing

	FY 2019–20		FY 20	FY 2020–21		FY 2021–22		FY 2022–23)23–24
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	3,074		3,372		3,263		4,369		5,907	
Under 18	177	6%	133	4%	132	4%	448	10%	690	12%
18 to 24	389	13%	322	10%	278	9%	415	9%	639	11%
25 to 34	531	17%	540	16%	573	18%	760	17%	1,047	18%
35 to 44	520	17%	555	16%	589	18%	726	17%	1,121	19%
45 to 54	539	18%	678	20%	644	20%	712	16%	918	16%
55 to 64	674	22%	797	24%	727	22%	915	21%	1,015	17%
65 and older	236	8%	341	10%	317	10%	385	9%	456	8%
No age group reported	8	0%	6	0%	3	0%	8	0%	21	0%

Table 50: Rate of people with substance use disorders or serious mental illness (Metric 2) by age group

People who have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI), out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

participants experiencing nomelessness	FV 2010	FV 2020	FV 2024	FV 2022	FV 2022
	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	31,053	34,020	38,247	41,011	43,032
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	34%	38%	40%	40%	38%
Under 18					
Experienced homelessness	9,388	7,080	7,971	9,060	11,874
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	572	458	442	439	467
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	6%	6%	6%	5%	4%
18 to 24					
Experienced homelessness	7,410	6,590	7,410	7,935	8,269
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	2,255	2,335	2,673	2,876	2,804
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	30%	35%	36%	36%	34%
25 to 34					
Experienced homelessness	16,701	17,250	19,382	21,243	23,173
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	6,498	7,208	8,638	9,525	10,089
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	39%	42%	45%	45%	44%
35 to 44					
Experienced homelessness	16,228	17,176	19,265	21,657	24,102
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	6,528	7,473	8,783	9,775	10,918
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	40%	44%	46%	45%	45%
45 to 54					
Experienced homelessness	15,283	15,677	16,045	17,020	18,784
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	6,669	7,093	7,677	7,980	8,369
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	44%	45%	48%	47%	45%
55 to 64					

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
Experienced homelessness	14,251	14,990	14,986	15,361	15,474
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	6,629	7,086	7,477	7,762	7,568
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	47%	47%	50%	51%	49%
65 and older			•	•	
Experienced homelessness	5,461	6,081	6,400	6,599	7,168
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	1,771	2,189	2,307	2,404	2,590
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	32%	36%	36%	36%	36%
No age group reported		·			
Experienced homelessness	6,929	4,535	3,355	4,331	3,433
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	131	178	248	249	226
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	2%	4%	7%	6%	7%

Table 51: Age group of people with substance use disorders or serious mental illness (Metric 2) Age group of service participants who have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)

	FY 2019–20		FY 20	FY 2020–21 FY		FY 2021–22		22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	31,053		34,020		38,247		41,011		43,032	
Under 18	572	2%	458	1%	442	1%	439	1%	467	1%
18 to 24	2,255	7%	2,335	7%	2,673	7%	2,876	7%	2,804	7%
25 to 34	6,498	21%	7,208	21%	8,638	23%	9,525	23%	10,089	23%
35 to 44	6,528	21%	7,473	22%	8,783	23%	9,775	24%	10,918	25%
45 to 54	6,669	21%	7,093	21%	7,677	20%	7,980	19%	8,369	19%
55 to 64	6,629	21%	7,086	21%	7,477	20%	7,762	19%	7,568	18%
65 and older	1,771	6%	2,189	6%	2,307	6%	2,404	6%	2,590	6%
No age group reported	131	0%	178	1%	248	1%	249	1%	226	1%

Table 52: Rate of people with serious mental illness only (Metric 2a) by age group

People who have evidence of serious mental illness, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

	FY 2019–	FY 2020-	FY 2021–	FY 2022-	FY 2023-
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Have evidence of serious mental illness	15,001	13,639	14,087	14,030	14,033
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	16%	15%	15%	14%	12%
Under 18					
Experienced homelessness	9,388	7,080	7,971	9,060	11,874
Have evidence of serious mental illness	525	404	373	374	404
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	6%	6%	5%	4%	3%
18 to 24					
Experienced homelessness	7,410	6,590	7,410	7,935	8,269
Have evidence of serious mental illness	1,439	1,299	1,361	1,438	1,357
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	19%	20%	18%	18%	16%
25 to 34			•		
Experienced homelessness	16,701	17,250	19,382	21,243	23,173
Have evidence of serious mental illness	2,868	2,439	2,655	2,716	2,820
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	17%	14%	14%	13%	12%
35 to 44			•		
Experienced homelessness	16,228	17,176	19,265	21,657	24,102
Have evidence of serious mental illness	2,743	2,571	2,766	2,741	2,935
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	17%	15%	14%	13%	12%
45 to 54			•		
Experienced homelessness	15,283	15,677	16,045	17,020	18,784
Have evidence of serious mental illness	3,023	2,731	2,707	2,630	2,546
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	20%	17%	17%	15%	14%
55 to 64					
Experienced homelessness	14,251	14,990	14,986	15,361	15,474
Have evidence of serious mental illness	3,345	3,003	3,048	2,949	2,790
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	23%	20%	20%	19%	18%
65 and older					
Experienced homelessness	5,461	6,081	6,400	6,599	7,168
Have evidence of serious mental illness	1,025	1,142	1,129	1,143	1,143

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	19%	19%	18%	17%	16%
No age group reported					
Experienced homelessness	6,929	4,535	3,355	4,331	3,433
Have evidence of serious mental illness	33	50	48	39	38
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	0%	1%	1%	1%	1%

Table 53: Age group of people with serious mental illness only (Metric 2a)

Age group of service participants who have evidence of serious mental illness

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	FY 2020–21 F		FY 2021–22		FY 2022-23		23–24
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	15,001		13,639		14,087		14,030		14,033	
Under 18	525	3%	404	3%	373	3%	374	3%	404	3%
18 to 24	1,439	10%	1,299	10%	1,361	10%	1,438	10%	1,357	10%
25 to 34	2,868	19%	2,439	18%	2,655	19%	2,716	19%	2,820	20%
35 to 44	2,743	18%	2,571	19%	2,766	20%	2,741	20%	2,935	21%
45 to 54	3,023	20%	2,731	20%	2,707	19%	2,630	19%	2,546	18%
55 to 64	3,345	22%	3,003	22%	3,048	22%	2,949	21%	2,790	20%
65 and older	1,025	7%	1,142	8%	1,129	8%	1,143	8%	1,143	8%
No age group reported	33	0%	50	0%	48	0%	39	0%	38	0%

Table 54: Rate of people with substance use disorders only (Metric 2b) by age group

People who have evidence of substance use disorder, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

	FY 2019–	FY 2020-	FY 2021-	FY 2022-	FY 2023-
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Have evidence of substance use disorder	5,031	5,643	6,802	7,857	8,724
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	5%	6%	7%	8%	8%
Under 18			•		
Experienced homelessness	9,388	7,080	7,971	9,060	11,874
Have evidence of substance use disorder	31	32	43	38	39
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	0%	0%	1%	0%	0%
18 to 24					
Experienced homelessness	7,410	6,590	7,410	7,935	8,269
Have evidence of substance use disorder	289	279	352	392	374
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	4%	4%	5%	5%	5%
25 to 34			·		
Experienced homelessness	16,701	17,250	19,382	21,243	23,173
Have evidence of substance use disorder	1,190	1,354	1,730	2,048	2,279
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	7%	8%	9%	10%	10%
35 to 44				•	
Experienced homelessness	16,228	17,176	19,265	21,657	24,102
Have evidence of substance use disorder	1,198	1,394	1,714	2,039	2,367
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	7%	8%	9%	9%	10%
45 to 54					
Experienced homelessness	15,283	15,677	16,045	17,020	18,784
Have evidence of substance use disorder	983	1,081	1,311	1,469	1,683
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	6%	7%	8%	9%	9%
55 to 64					
Experienced homelessness	14,251	14,990	14,986	15,361	15,474
Have evidence of substance use disorder	991	1,071	1,161	1,355	1,426
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	7%	7%	8%	9%	9%
65 and older					
Experienced homelessness	5,461	6,081	6,400	6,599	7,168
Have evidence of substance use disorder	307	379	431	455	526

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	6%	6%	7%	7%	7%
No age group reported					
Experienced homelessness	6,929	4,535	3,355	4,331	3,433
Have evidence of substance use disorder	42	53	60	61	30
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	1%	1%	2%	1%	1%

Table 55: Age group of people with substance use disorders only (Metric 2b)

Age group of service participants who have evidence of substance use disorder

	FY 2019–20		FY 20	FY 2020–21 FY		FY 2021–22)22–23	FY 2023–24	
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	5,031		5,643		6,802		7,857		8,724	
Under 18	31	1%	32	1%	43	1%	38	0%	39	0%
18 to 24	289	6%	279	5%	352	5%	392	5%	374	4%
25 to 34	1,190	24%	1,354	24%	1,730	25%	2,048	26%	2,279	26%
35 to 44	1,198	24%	1,394	25%	1,714	25%	2,039	26%	2,367	27%
45 to 54	983	20%	1,081	19%	1,311	19%	1,469	19%	1,683	19%
55 to 64	991	20%	1,071	19%	1,161	17%	1,355	17%	1,426	16%
65 and older	307	6%	379	7%	431	6%	455	6%	526	6%
No age group reported	42	1%	53	1%	60	1%	61	1%	30	0%

Table 56: Rate of people with both substance use disorders and serious mental illness (Metric 2c) by age group

People who have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD), out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

participants experiencing nomelessness					
	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	11,021	14,738	17,358	19,124	20,275
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	12%	16%	18%	19%	18%
Under 18					
Experienced homelessness	9,388	7,080	7,971	9,060	11,874
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	16	22	26	27	24
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
18 to 24					
Experienced homelessness	7,410	6,590	7,410	7,935	8,269
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	527	757	960	1,046	1,073
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	7%	11%	13%	13%	13%
25 to 34					
Experienced homelessness	16,701	17,250	19,382	21,243	23,173
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	2,440	3,415	4,253	4,761	4,990
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	15%	20%	22%	22%	22%
35 to 44					
Experienced homelessness	16,228	17,176	19,265	21,657	24,102
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	2,587	3,508	4,303	4,995	5,616
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	16%	20%	22%	23%	23%
45 to 54					
Experienced homelessness	15,283	15,677	16,045	17,020	18,784
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	2,663	3,281	3,659	3,881	4,140
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	17%	21%	23%	23%	22%
55 to 64					

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
Experienced homelessness	14,251	14,990	14,986	15,361	15,474
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	2,293	3,012	3,268	3,458	3,352
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	16%	20%	22%	23%	22%
65 and older		·			
Experienced homelessness	5,461	6,081	6,400	6,599	7,168
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	439	668	747	806	921
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	8%	11%	12%	12%	13%
No age group reported		·			
Experienced homelessness	6,929	4,535	3,355	4,331	3,433
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	56	75	140	149	158
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	1%	2%	4%	3%	5%

Table 57: Age group of people with both substance use disorders and serious mental illness (Metric 2c)

Age group of service participants who have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)

	FY 2019–20		FY 20	FY 2020–21 FY		FY 2021–22		22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	11,021		14,738		17,358		19,124		20,275	
Under 18	16	0%	22	0%	26	0%	27	0%	24	0%
18 to 24	527	5%	757	5%	960	6%	1,046	5%	1,073	5%
25 to 34	2,440	22%	3,415	23%	4,253	25%	4,761	25%	4,990	25%
35 to 44	2,587	23%	3,508	24%	4,303	25%	4,995	26%	5,616	28%
45 to 54	2,663	24%	3,281	22%	3,659	21%	3,881	20%	4,140	20%
55 to 64	2,293	21%	3,012	20%	3,268	19%	3,458	18%	3,352	17%
65 and older	439	4%	668	5%	747	4%	806	4%	921	5%
No age group reported	56	1%	75	1%	140	1%	149	1%	158	1%

Table 58: Rate of exits to permanent housing (Metric 3) by age group

People who exited to permanent housing, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

reopie who exteed to permanent housing, out of all service	FY 2019–	FY 2020-	FY 2021-	FY 2022-	FY 2023-
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Exited to permanent housing	13,889	13,763	13,400	15,210	19,168
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	15%	15%	14%	15%	17%
Under 18					
Experienced homelessness	9,388	7,080	7,971	9,060	11,874
Exited to permanent housing	3,714	2,750	2,496	3,107	3,818
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	40%	39%	31%	34%	32%
18 to 24					
Experienced homelessness	7,410	6,590	7,410	7,935	8,269
Exited to permanent housing	1,339	1,202	1,073	1,288	1,688
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	18%	18%	14%	16%	20%
25 to 34			•	,	
Experienced homelessness	16,701	17,250	19,382	21,243	23,173
Exited to permanent housing	2,316	2,197	2,224	2,544	3,302
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	14%	13%	11%	12%	14%
35 to 44					
Experienced homelessness	16,228	17,176	19,265	21,657	24,102
Exited to permanent housing	1,913	2,006	2,041	2,324	3,324
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	12%	12%	11%	11%	14%
45 to 54					
Experienced homelessness	15,283	15,677	16,045	17,020	18,784
Exited to permanent housing	1,705	1,930	1,873	1,986	2,495
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	11%	12%	12%	12%	13%
55 to 64					
Experienced homelessness	14,251	14,990	14,986	15,361	15,474
Exited to permanent housing	2,032	2,373	2,399	2,579	2,875
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	14%	16%	16%	17%	19%
65 and older					
Experienced homelessness	5,461	6,081	6,400	6,599	7,168
Exited to permanent housing	825	1,261	1,259	1,326	1,599

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	15%	21%	20%	20%	22%
No age group reported					
Experienced homelessness	6,929	4,535	3,355	4,331	3,433
Exited to permanent housing	14	17	30	40	63
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	0%	0%	1%	1%	2%

Table 59: Age group of those who exited to permanent housing (Metric 3)

Age group of service participants who exited to permanent housing

	FY 2019–20		FY 20	FY 2020–21 FY		FY 2021–22		22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	13,889		13,763		13,400		15,210		19,168	
Under 18	3,714	27%	2,750	20%	2,496	19%	3,107	20%	3,818	20%
18 to 24	1,339	10%	1,202	9%	1,073	8%	1,288	8%	1,688	9%
25 to 34	2,316	17%	2,197	16%	2,224	17%	2,544	17%	3,302	17%
35 to 44	1,913	14%	2,006	15%	2,041	15%	2,324	15%	3,324	17%
45 to 54	1,705	12%	1,930	14%	1,873	14%	1,986	13%	2,495	13%
55 to 64	2,032	15%	2,373	17%	2,399	18%	2,579	17%	2,875	15%
65 and older	825	6%	1,261	9%	1,259	9%	1,326	9%	1,599	8%
No age group reported	14	0%	17	0%	30	0%	40	0%	63	0%

Table 60: Rate of retention in permanent housing (Metric 3a) by age group

People who exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months, out of all service participants who exited to permanent housing

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
All service participants experiencing homelessness	20	21	22	23	24
Exited to permanent housing	13,889	13,763	13,400	15,210	19,168
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	11,833	10,904	10,600	^	^
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	85%	79%	79%	۸	٨
Under 18					
Exited to permanent housing	3,714	2,750	2,496	3,107	3,818
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	3,513	2,497	2,248	۸	۸
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	95%	91%	90%	۸	۸
18 to 24					
Exited to permanent housing	1,339	1,202	1,073	1,288	1,688
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	1,092	928	819	۸	٨
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	82%	77%	76%	۸	٨
25 to 34					
Exited to permanent housing	2,316	2,197	2,224	2,544	3,302
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	1,944	1,663	1,666	۸	٨
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	84%	76%	75%	۸	٨
35 to 44					
Exited to permanent housing	1,913	2,006	2,041	2,324	3,324
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	1,574	1,516	1,558	۸	٨
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	82%	76%	76%	۸	٨
45 to 54					
Exited to permanent housing	1,705	1,930	1,873	1,986	2,495
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	1,353	1,436	1,397	۸	٨
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	79%	74%	75%	۸	٨
55 to 64					
Exited to permanent housing	2,032	2,373	2,399	2,579	2,875

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	1,631	1,800	1,833	٨	۸
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	80%	76%	76%	۸	۸
65 and older		·			
Exited to permanent housing	825	1,261	1,259	1,326	1,599
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	683	1,023	1,052	۸	۸
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	83%	81%	84%	۸	۸
No age group reported					
Exited to permanent housing	14	17	30	40	63
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	13	16	22	٨	۸
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	93%	94%	73%	۸	۸

[^] Data about retention in housing is not available for more recent years because 24 months have not elapsed. Source: HMIS and CHAMP.

Table 61: Age group of those who were retained in permanent housing (Metric 3a)

Age group of service participants who exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months

	FY 2019–20		FY 20	FY 2020–21		21–22	FY 20)22–23	FY 2023–24	
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	11,833		10,904		10,600					
Under 18	3,513	30%	2,497	23%	2,248	21%	٨	۸	۸	۸
18 to 24	1,092	9%	928	9%	819	8%	٨	۸	٨	۸
25 to 34	1,944	16%	1,663	15%	1,666	16%	٨	۸	٨	۸
35 to 44	1,574	13%	1,516	14%	1,558	15%	٨	۸	٨	۸
45 to 54	1,353	11%	1,436	13%	1,397	13%	٨	۸	٨	۸
55 to 64	1,631	14%	1,800	17%	1,833	17%	۸	۸	۸	^
65 and older	683	6%	1,023	9%	1,052	10%	٨	۸	۸	۸
No age group reported	13	0%	16	0%	22	0%	۸	۸	٨	٨

[^] Data about retention in housing is not available for more recent years because 24 months have not elapsed. Source: HMIS and CHAMP.

Table 62: Rate of people new to homelessness (Metric 4) by age group

People who were newly accessing services in the last 24 months, out of all service participants experiencing

homelessness

nomelessness					
	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	58,875	50,866	55,042	59,111	64,667
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	64%	57%	58%	57%	58%
Under 18					
Experienced homelessness	9,388	7,080	7,971	9,060	11,874
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	6,274	3,603	5,416	6,021	8,448
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	67%	51%	68%	66%	71%
18 to 24					
Experienced homelessness	7,410	6,590	7,410	7,935	8,269
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	4,854	3,976	4,922	5,011	5,181
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	66%	60%	66%	63%	63%
25 to 34					
Experienced homelessness	16,701	17,250	19,382	21,243	23,173
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	11,014	10,643	12,092	12,629	13,544
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	66%	62%	62%	59%	58%
35 to 44					
Experienced homelessness	16,228	17,176	19,265	21,657	24,102
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	10,560	10,054	11,190	12,287	13,441
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	65%	59%	58%	57%	56%
45 to 54					
Experienced homelessness	15,283	15,677	16,045	17,020	18,784
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	8,920	8,278	8,290	8,784	10,099
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	58%	53%	52%	52%	54%
55 to 64					
Experienced homelessness	14,251	14,990	14,986	15,361	15,474
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	7,754	7,387	7,141	7,208	7,387
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	54%	49%	48%	47%	48%
65 and older					
Experienced homelessness	5,461	6,081	6,400	6,599	7,168

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	3,324	3,142	3,203	3,329	3,778
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	61%	52%	50%	50%	53%
No age group reported					
Experienced homelessness	6,929	4,535	3,355	4,331	3,433
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	6,138	3,751	2,777	3,822	2,782
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	89%	83%	83%	88%	81%

Table 63: Age group of people new to homelessness (Metric 4)

Age group of service participants who were newly accessing services in the last 24 months

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 20	22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent								
All service participants experiencing homelessness	58,875		50,866		55,042		59,111		64,667	
Under 18	6,274	11%	3,603	7%	5,416	10%	6,021	10%	8,448	13%
18 to 24	4,854	8%	3,976	8%	4,922	9%	5,011	8%	5,181	8%
25 to 34	11,014	19%	10,643	21%	12,092	22%	12,629	21%	13,544	21%
35 to 44	10,560	18%	10,054	20%	11,190	20%	12,287	21%	13,441	21%
45 to 54	8,920	15%	8,278	16%	8,290	15%	8,784	15%	10,099	16%
55 to 64	7,754	13%	7,387	15%	7,141	13%	7,208	12%	7,387	11%
65 and older	3,324	6%	3,142	6%	3,203	6%	3,329	6%	3,778	6%
No age group reported	6,138	10%	3,751	7%	2,777	5%	3,822	6%	2,782	4%

Veteran status

Table 64: Veteran status of all service participants experiencing homelessness

Veteran status of service participants who experienced homelessness during the reporting period

	FY 20	FY 2019–20		20–21	FY 2021–22		FY 202	22–23	FY 2023–24	
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	91,690		89,411		94,827		103,229		112,287	
Veteran	4,806	5%	4,649	5%	4,402	5%	4,332	4%	4,539	4%
Not veteran	65,595	72%	66,888	75%	72,829	77%	78,830	76%	85,680	76%
No veteran status reported	21,289	23%	17,874	20%	17,596	19%	20,067	19%	22,068	20%

Table 65: Rate of unsheltered homelessness (Metric 1) by veteran status

People who experienced unsheltered homelessness, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022- 23	FY 2023– 24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	55,894	55,217	57,174	62,860	66,919
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	61%	62%	60%	61%	60%
Veteran			·		
Experienced homelessness	4,806	4,649	4,402	4,332	4,539
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	1,877	1,861	1,760	1,692	1,674
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	39%	40%	40%	39%	37%
Not veteran				,	
Experienced homelessness	65,595	66,888	72,829	78,830	85,680
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	41,649	42,890	46,744	51,413	54,952
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	63%	64%	64%	65%	64%
No veteran status reported			·		
Experienced homelessness	21,289	17,874	17,596	20,067	22,068
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	12,368	10,466	8,670	9,755	10,293
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who experienced unsheltered homelessness	58%	59%	49%	49%	47%

Table 66: Veteran status of those who experienced unsheltered homelessness (Metric 1)

Veteran status of service participants who experienced unsheltered homelessness

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 20	22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent								
All service participants experiencing homelessness	55,894		55,217		57,174		62,860		66,919	
Veteran	1,877	3%	1,861	3%	1,760	3%	1,692	3%	1,674	3%
Not veteran	41,649	75%	42,890	78%	46,744	82%	51,413	82%	54,952	82%
No veteran status reported	12,368	22%	10,466	19%	8,670	15%	9,755	16%	10,293	15%

Table 67: Rate of unsheltered interim housing access (Metric 1a) by veteran status

People who were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing, out of all unsheltered service participants

·	<u></u>				
	FY 2019–			FY 2022-	
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	55,894	55,217	57,174	62,860	66,919
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	13,516	14,971	17,117	20,483	22,804
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	24%	27%	30%	33%	34%
Veteran					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	1,877	1,861	1,760	1,692	1,674
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	689	621	602	636	701
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	37%	33%	34%	38%	42%
Not veteran					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	41,649	42,890	46,744	51,413	54,952
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	12,137	13,691	15,362	18,025	19,989
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	29%	32%	33%	35%	36%
No veteran status reported					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	12,368	10,466	8,670	9,755	10,293
Were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing	690	659	1,153	1,822	2,114
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who also accessed interim housing	6%	6%	13%	19%	21%

Table 68: Veteran status of unsheltered people who also accessed interim housing (Metric 1a) Veteran status of service participants who were unsheltered and also accessed interim housing

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 20	22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent								
All service participants experiencing homelessness	13,516		14,971		17,117		20,483		22,804	
Veteran	689	5%	621	4%	602	4%	636	3%	701	3%
Not veteran	12,137	90%	13,691	91%	15,362	90%	18,025	88%	19,989	88%
No veteran status reported	690	5%	659	4%	1,153	7%	1,822	9%	2,114	9%

Table 69: Rate of unsheltered exits to housing (Metric 1b) by veteran status

People who were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing, out of all unsheltered service participants

	Ο,				
	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022- 23	FY 2023– 24
	20	21			24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	55,894	55,217	57,174	62,860	66,919
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	3,074	3,372	3,263	4,369	5,907
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	5%	6%	6%	7%	9%
Veteran					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	1,877	1,861	1,760	1,692	1,674
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	169	195	188	211	250
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	9%	10%	11%	12%	15%
Not veteran					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	41,649	42,890	46,744	51,413	54,952
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	2,714	3,006	2,899	3,628	4,835
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	7%	7%	6%	7%	9%
No veteran status reported					
Experienced unsheltered homelessness	12,368	10,466	8,670	9,755	10,293
Were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing	191	171	176	530	822
Percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness who exited to permanent housing	2%	2%	2%	5%	8%

Table 70: Veteran status or unsheltered people who exited to housing (Metric 1b)

Veteran status of service participants who were unsheltered and exited to permanent housing

FY 20	19–20	FY 20)20–21	FY 20)21–22	FY 20)22–23	FY 20	23–24
Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
3,074		3,372		3,263		4,369		5,907	
160	5%	105	6%	122	6%	211	5%	250	4%
									82%
191	6%	171	5%	176	5%	530	12%	822	14%
	Count 3,074 169 2,714	3,074 169 5% 2,714 88%	Count Percent Count 3,074 3,372 169 5% 195 2,714 88% 3,006	Count Percent Count Percent 3,074 3,372 169 5% 195 6% 2,714 88% 3,006 89%	Count Percent Count Percent Count 3,074 3,372 3,263 169 5% 195 6% 188 2,714 88% 3,006 89% 2,899	Count Percent Count Percent Count Percent 3,074 3,372 3,263 169 5% 195 6% 188 6% 2,714 88% 3,006 89% 2,899 89%	Count Percent Count Percent Count Percent Count 3,074 3,372 3,263 4,369 169 5% 195 6% 188 6% 211 2,714 88% 3,006 89% 2,899 89% 3,628	Count Percent Count Percent Count Percent Count Percent 3,074 3,372 3,263 4,369 169 5% 195 6% 188 6% 211 5% 2,714 88% 3,006 89% 2,899 89% 3,628 83%	Count Percent Count Percent Count Percent Count Percent Count 3,074 3,372 3,263 4,369 5,907 169 5% 195 6% 188 6% 211 5% 250 2,714 88% 3,006 89% 2,899 89% 3,628 83% 4,835

Table 71: Rate of people with substance use disorders or serious mental illness (Metric 2) by veteran status

People who have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI), out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

	FY 2019–	FY 2020-	FY 2021-	FY 2022-	FY 2023-
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	31,053	34,020	38,247	41,011	43,032
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	34%	38%	40%	40%	38%
Veteran					
Experienced homelessness	4,806	4,649	4,402	4,332	4,539
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	1,986	1,911	1,715	1,710	1,633
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	41%	41%	39%	39%	36%
Not veteran					
Experienced homelessness	65,595	66,888	72,829	78,830	85,680
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	27,973	30,872	34,991	37,587	39,335
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	43%	46%	48%	48%	46%
No veteran status reported					
Experienced homelessness	21,289	17,874	17,596	20,067	22,068
Have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)	1,094	1,237	1,541	1,714	2,064
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD or SMI	5%	7%	9%	9%	9%

Table 72: Veteran status of people with substance use disorders or serious mental illness (Metric 2)

Veteran status of service participants who have evidence of either substance use disorder (SUD) or serious mental illness (SMI)

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 20	22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent								
All service participants experiencing homelessness	31,053		34,020		38,247		41,011		43,032	
Veteran	1,986	6%	1,911	6%	1,715	4%	1,710	4%	1,633	4%
Not veteran	27,973	90%	30,872	91%	34,991	91%	37,587	92%	39,335	91%
No veteran status reported	1,094	4%	1,237	4%	1,541	4%	1,714	4%	2,064	5%

Table 73: Rate of people with serious mental illness only (Metric 2a) by veteran status

People who have evidence of serious mental illness, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

<u> </u>		<u> </u>	<u> </u>		
	FY 2019-	FY 2020-	FY 2021–	FY 2022-	FY 2023-
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Have evidence of serious mental illness	15,001	13,639	14,087	14,030	14,033
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	16%	15%	15%	14%	12%
Veteran					
Experienced homelessness	4,806	4,649	4,402	4,332	4,539
Have evidence of serious mental illness	974	853	726	667	663
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	20%	18%	16%	15%	15%
Not veteran					
Experienced homelessness	65,595	66,888	72,829	78,830	85,680
Have evidence of serious mental illness	13,355	12,142	12,676	12,606	12,482
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	20%	18%	17%	16%	15%
No veteran status reported			•		
Experienced homelessness	21,289	17,874	17,596	20,067	22,068
Have evidence of serious mental illness	672	644	685	757	888
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SMI only	3%	4%	4%	4%	4%

Table 74: Veteran status of people with serious mental illness only (Metric 2a)

Veteran status of service participants who have evidence of serious mental illness

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 20	22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent								
All service participants experiencing homelessness	15,001		13,639		14,087		14,030		14,033	
Veteran	974	6%	853	6%	726	5%	667	5%	663	5%
Not veteran	13,355	89%	12,142	89%	12,676	90%	12,606	90%	12,482	89%
No veteran status reported	672	4%	644	5%	685	5%	757	5%	888	6%

Table 75: Rate of people with substance use disorders only (Metric 2b) by veteran status

People who have evidence of substance use disorder, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

,		' '	'	0	
	FY 2019-	FY 2020-	FY 2021-	FY 2022-	FY 2023-
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Have evidence of substance use disorder	5,031	5,643	6,802	7,857	8,724
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	5%	6%	7%	8%	8%
Veteran					
Experienced homelessness	4,806	4,649	4,402	4,332	4,539
Have evidence of substance use disorder	296	296	266	295	296
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	6%	6%	6%	7%	7%
Not veteran					
Experienced homelessness	65,595	66,888	72,829	78,830	85,680
Have evidence of substance use disorder	4,506	5,096	6,210	7,190	8,018
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	7%	8%	9%	9%	9%
No veteran status reported					
Experienced homelessness	21,289	17,874	17,596	20,067	22,068
Have evidence of substance use disorder	229	251	326	372	410
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of SUD only	1%	1%	2%	2%	2%

Table 76: Veteran status of people with substance use disorders only (Metric 2b)

Veteran status of service participants who have evidence of substance use disorder

	FY 20)19–20	FY 20)20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 20	22–23	FY 20)23–24
	Count	Percent								
All service participants experiencing homelessness	5,031		5,643		6,802		7,857		8,724	
Veteran	296	6%	296	5%	266	4%	295	4%	296	3%
Not veteran	4,506	90%	5,096	90%	6,210	91%	7,190	92%	8,018	92%
No veteran status reported	229	5%	251	4%	326	5%	372	5%	410	5%

Table 77: Rate of people with both substance use disorders and serious mental illness (Metric 2c) by veteran status

People who have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD), out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

	FY 2019–	FY 2020-	FY 2021-	FY 2022-	FY 2023-
	20	21	22	23	24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	11,021	14,738	17,358	19,124	20,275
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	12%	16%	18%	19%	18%
Veteran					
Experienced homelessness	4,806	4,649	4,402	4,332	4,539
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	716	762	723	748	674
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	15%	16%	16%	17%	15%
Not veteran					
Experienced homelessness	65,595	66,888	72,829	78,830	85,680
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	10,112	13,634	16,105	17,791	18,835
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	15%	20%	22%	23%	22%
No veteran status reported					
Experienced homelessness	21,289	17,874	17,596	20,067	22,068
Have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)	193	342	530	585	766
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who have evidence of both SUD and SMI	1%	2%	3%	3%	3%

Table 78: Veteran status of people with both substance use disorders and serious mental illness (Metric 2c)

Veteran status of service participants who have evidence of both substance use disorder (SUD) and serious mental illness (SUD)

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 20	22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent								
All service participants experiencing homelessness	11,021		14,738		17,358		19,124		20,275	
Veteran	716	6%	762	5%	723	4%	748	4%	674	3%
Not veteran	10,112	92%	13,634	93%	16,105	93%	17,791	93%	18,835	93%
No veteran status reported	193	2%	342	2%	530	3%	585	3%	766	4%

Table 79: Rate of exits to permanent housing (Metric 3) by veteran status

People who exited to permanent housing, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Exited to permanent housing	13,889	13,763	13,400	15,210	19,168
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	15%	15%	14%	15%	17%
Veteran					
Experienced homelessness	4,806	4,649	4,402	4,332	4,539
Exited to permanent housing	1,191	1,106	1,055	1,178	1,334
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	25%	24%	24%	27%	29%
Not veteran					
Experienced homelessness	65,595	66,888	72,829	78,830	85,680
Exited to permanent housing	9,099	9,827	9,678	10,647	13,506
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	14%	15%	13%	14%	16%
No veteran status reported					
Experienced homelessness	21,289	17,874	17,596	20,067	22,068
Exited to permanent housing	3,599	2,830	2,667	3,385	4,328
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who exited to permanent housing	17%	16%	15%	17%	20%

Table 80: Veteran status of those who exited to permanent housing (Metric 3)

Veteran status of service participants who exited to permanent housing

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 20	22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent								
All service participants experiencing homelessness	13,889		13,763		13,400		15,210		19,168	
Veteran	1,191	9%	1,106	8%	1,055	8%	1,178	8%	1,334	7%
Not veteran	9,099	66%	9,827	71%	9,678	72%	10,647	70%	13,506	70%
No veteran status reported	3,599	26%	2,830	21%	2,667	20%	3,385	22%	4,328	23%

Table 81: Rate of retention in permanent housing (Metric 3a) by veteran status

People who exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months, out of all service participants who exited to permanent housing

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Exited to permanent housing	13,889	13,763	13,400	15,210	19,168
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	11,833	10,904	10,600	۸	۸
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	85%	79%	79%	۸	۸
Veteran					
Exited to permanent housing	1,191	1,106	1,055	1,178	1,334
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	1,027	935	897	۸	۸
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	86%	85%	85%	۸	۸
Not veteran					
Exited to permanent housing	9,099	9,827	9,678	10,647	13,506
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	7,399	7,405	7,321	۸	۸
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	81%	75%	76%	۸	۸
No veteran status reported					
Exited to permanent housing	3,599	2,830	2,667	3,385	4,328
Exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months	3,407	2,564	2,382	۸	۸
Percent of those who exited to permanent housing who did not return	95%	91%	89%	۸	۸

[^] Data about retention in housing is not available for more recent years because 24 months have not elapsed. Source: HMIS and CHAMP.

Table 82: Veteran status of those who were retained in permanent housing (Metric 3a)

Veteran status of service participants who exited to permanent housing and did not return to homelessness within 24 months

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 20)22–23	FY 20)23–24
	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
All service participants experiencing homelessness	11,833		10,904		10,600					
Veteran	1,027	9%	935	9%	897	8%	٨	۸	٨	۸
Not veteran	7,399	63%	7,405	68%	7,321	69%	٨	۸	٨	۸
No veteran status reported	3,407	29%	2,564	24%	2,382	22%	۸	۸	۸	٨

[^] Data about retention in housing is not available for more recent years because 24 months have not elapsed. Source: HMIS and CHAMP.

Table 83: Rate of people new to homelessness (Metric 4) by veteran status

People who were newly accessing services in the last 24 months, out of all service participants experiencing homelessness

	FY 2019– 20	FY 2020– 21	FY 2021– 22	FY 2022– 23	FY 2023– 24
All service participants experiencing homelessness					
Experienced homelessness	91,690	89,411	94,827	103,229	112,287
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	58,875	50,866	55,042	59,111	64,667
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	64%	57%	58%	57%	58%
Veteran			•		
Experienced homelessness	4,806	4,649	4,402	4,332	4,539
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	2,472	2,197	2,049	2,050	2,280
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	51%	47%	47%	47%	50%
Not veteran					
Experienced homelessness	65,595	66,888	72,829	78,830	85,680
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	39,371	35,974	39,824	42,371	46,106
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	60%	54%	55%	54%	54%
No veteran status reported					
Experienced homelessness	21,289	17,874	17,596	20,067	22,068
Were newly accessing services in the last 24 months	17,032	12,695	13,169	14,690	16,281
Percent of those experiencing homelessness who were newly accessing services	80%	71%	75%	73%	74%

Table 84: Veteran status of people new to homelessness (Metric 4)

Veteran status of service participants who were newly accessing services in the last 24 months

	FY 20	19–20	FY 20	20–21	FY 20	21–22	FY 20	22–23	FY 20	23–24
	Count	Percent								
All service participants experiencing homelessness	58,875		50,866		55,042		59,111		64,667	
Veteran	2,472	4%	2,197	4%	2,049	4%	2,050	3%	2,280	4%
Not veteran	39,371	67%	35,974	71%	39,824	72%	42,371	72%	46,106	71%
No veteran status reported	17,032	29%	12,695	25%	13,169	24%	14,690	25%	16,281	25%